THE CASINO KING'S RISKY BET ON A PHILIPPINE FIXER

Universal tried to push through its casino
deal in the Philippines in the final months
of the Arroyo administration. That deal is
now the subject of investigations there and
in the United States.

The record shows Universal won con-
cessions on three critical issues that had
threatened the $2-billion project in late
2009 and early 2010.

First, the Philippine Amusement and
Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR), the
gaming regulator under Genuino, brokered a
land swap in November 2009 that Universal
needed to move ahead with construction.

Then in February 2010, Arroyo signed
a presidential order making it possible for
foreign investors such as Okada to have
100-percent ownership of casinos. Around
the same time, Arroyo’s office approved an
application for corporate tax relief from
Universals land-holding company. Both
measures were expected but the delays had
frustrated Universal executives, records show.

Universal pushed hard to get its final
gaming license from Genuino - right up
until June 29, 2010, a day before he left his
post - but failed to get it.

As it raced to win final approval for
its casino, Universal also funnelled a total
of $40 million in payments to Rodolfo
Soriano, an aide to Genuino and a former
consultant to PAGCOR who had become
central to Universal’s operations in the
Philippines by late 2009.

Of the total $40 million in transfers to
Soriano, $10 million was immediately re-
turned to the Japanese company in May
2010 to avoid writing off a bad loan ex-
tended to another company not involved in
the casino project, as Universal closed the
books on its fiscal year, records show.

The payments to Soriano, now under
investigation as potential bribery, were first
reported by Reuters.

It is unclear what happened with the
$30 million paid to Soriano that remained
with him. Soriano, who came to be known
to Universal executives by his nickname

GROUNDBREAKING: Okada (C) with Philippine officials and businessmen pressing a button to launch
construction of a new casino in Manila Bay. REUTERS/ROMEO RANOCO

S67b'lli0n

Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers

“Boysie”, has not commented on the pay-
ments and could not be reached. There is no
evidence the money was transferred to offi-
cials in the Arroyo administration or to others.

Universal booked $7 million of the pay-
ments to Soriano as a “consulting fee”, cit-
ing his help in winning the order signed by
Arroyo allowing foreign casino ownership as
partial justification for the payment, accord-
ing to company documents seen by Reuters.

Okada broke ground on construction of
the casino in January 2012, but PAGCOR
under its new chairman has threatened to
strip Universal of its license if evidence of
bribery is found.

Universal said it conducted its business
in the Philippines lawfully. Its lawyer, Yuki
Arai, declined to comment further.

Genuino has been

charged with

misuse of public funds during his time at
PAGCOR for allegations unrelated to the
Universal payments to Soriano. He could
not be reached for comment.

Arroyo has been under hospital arrest
for charges related to alleged electoral fraud
and misuse of public funds during her presi-
dency. Her spokeswoman, Elena Bautista-
Horn, did not return calls seeking comment.

Universal has sued three former employ-
ees claiming that $15 million transferred to
Soriano —including the $10 million that was
immediately returned — was unauthorised.

In early December, Okada and Universal
announced they had filed a libel action
against Reuters in Tokyo for reporting on
the payments to Soriano in November.

UP FROM HARDSHIP

Okada, one of Japan’s most successful en-
trepreneurs, had risen through hardship
and trusted his gut when it came to the
biggest decisions.

His father died when he was in elemen-
tary school, a loss he said helped make him
self-reliant. He made his first fortune fixing
and selling American jukeboxes in the 1960s.
He became a billionaire selling pachinko ma-
chines, a Japanese form of legal gambling.

Text continues on page 5
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CAMBLING THE CASINO KING'S RISKY BET ON A PHILIPPINE FIXER

Kazuo Okada’s legal feud with Steve Wynn

Each billionaire accuses the other of making improper payments in their respective Asian markets

April 2008 June 2010 Feb 2011 April 2011 Oct 2011
Universal Wynn and Board members advise Okada votes against Wynn demands
states intention Okada visit against involvement in the §135 million Okada’s resignation
to develop a Manila Philippines. donation to Univer- as a director after
casino in the together. sity of Macau and Wynn Compliance
Philippines Macau Development Committee investiga-
with Wynn'’s Foundation. Wynn tions into Okada’s
guidance. Macau pledges the dealings in Philip-
donation. pines.
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Wynn board votes to forcibly Universal/Aruze USA file Okada files a defama- Nevada court rejects
redeem Aruze USA’s shares in counterclaims seeking tion suitin Japan Okada’s effort to reverse
Wynn Resorts at a 30% to prevent redemption against Wynn Resorts forced redemption of his
discount to prevailing market of shares and punitive and its officials for $140 shares, rendering him
price after former FBI director damages. million in damages. unable to vote at Wynn
Freeh’s report reveals Okada Resorts’ Nov 2 annual
allegedly violated U.S. shareholder’s meeting.

anti-corruption law.

Note: *Okada was Wynn’s Resort largest shareholder through Universal Entertainment.
Sources. Thomson Reuters.
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THE CASINO KING'S RISKY BET ON A PHILIPPINE FIXER

By the late 1990s, the pachinko market
had peaked and Universal began to look for
ways to diversify.

Okada met casino impresario Steve
Wrynn in 2000. The two had to rely on a
translator — Okada speaks little English —
but both said they began a strong friend-
ship. On a handshake, Okada became
Wynn's major investor.

“I got lucky,” Wynn, 70, told Nevada
gaming regulators in 2004. “At first I could
hardly believe it, but then $250 million
came ‘zwinging’ in.” Wynn also said then
he believed Okada to be a man of deep in-
tegrity. “Take the high road. Do the right
thing,” he recalled Okada telling him.

Okada staked Wynn for a total of $380
million. That jump-started construction of
the Wynn Las Vegas resort that opened on
the site of the old Desert Inn in 2005, and
the even more profitable Wynn Macau in
2006. By 2010, Okada’s investment had in-
creased in value almost eight times and re-
turned just over $600 million in dividends.

Macau in particular has produced stun-
ning results. By 2011, the Macau market was
bringing in almost $34 billion a year, making
it more than five times larger than Las Vegas.

When Genuino visited Tokyo in 2007
to drum up interest in a $15-billion resort
and casino complex PAGCOR wanted to
develop, Okada jumped at the chance to
invest, people involved said.

A year later, on the cusp of global re-
cession, Universal paid just over $300 mil-
lion for 30 hectares (74 acres) on Manila
Bay. In August 2008, PAGCOR granted
a provisional license to its casino operat-
ing company, Tiger Resorts, Leisure and
Entertainment.

But Okada later realized the initial li-
cense fell short of what the company had
sought, records show. Universal did not
want to have to hire employees, including
dealers, through PAGCOR and pay fees
to the regulator as a placement service, ac-
cording to letters sent from Universal to

PAGCOR.

ALL IN: The Tokyo headquarters of Kazuo
Okada’s Universal Entertainment Corp. It's
looking to build more casinos around Asia.
REUTERS/TORU HANAI

Universal also pressed PAGCOR to al-
low high-rollers coming on trips organised
by junket operators to come into the casino
without reporting their names to the regu-
lator. Junket operators combine concierge
and credit services for rich Chinese and
have been central to the growth of gam-
bling in Macau.

To promote Manila as an alternative to
Macau, Universal wanted to make it a mar-
ket where the winnings of Chinese gam-
blers would be “free of supervision,” accord-
ing to a company presentation.

There was also some uncertainty about
whether Wynn would join the Okada proj-
ect. Okada said he wanted to bring Wynn
in as a partner through late 2010. “At that
time I trusted him. I showed him every-
thing,” Okada told Reuters in October.

Wynn, however, was always sceptical about
doing business in the Philippines, a person fa-
miliar with his thinking said. When Okada
asked him to visit Manila in June 2010, he
agreed to a briefing from Genuino. But he
turned up in a polo shirt when everyone else
wore business attire, a sign he saw himself as a
spectator, the person said.

66

Steve Wynn, describing Kazuo Okada’s

initial investment into his casino company.

By early 2012, Wynn and Okada had
split and begun a legal fight over Okada’s
continued investment in Wynn’s company
that is playing out in courthouses in the
United States, Japan and the Philippines.

A Wynn investigation found Universal
had paid $110,000 to entertain gaming
regulators from Korea and the Philippines.
The Wynn camp alleges that showed
Okada was an unfit partner. Okada has said
Universal entertains officials in line with its
internal policy and denies any wrongdo-
ing. The guest list that drew the attention
of Wynn included Soriano, Genuino and
Mike Arroyo, the husband of then-Presi-
dent Gloria Arroyo.

Wynn told Okada and other directors
in 2011 that he did not think it would be
possible to operate in the Philippines, con-
sistently ranked as one of the most corrupt
economies in Asia, according to a legal
claim filed by Universal in Nevada.

“All of us are of one mind,” Wynn told
Reuters. “We cannot be related to activities

in the Philippines.”

LAS VEGAS IN MANILA

When Okada and the Universal board ap-
proved the Manila project in August 2008,
they projected it would be a cornerstone of
a string of resorts around the rapidly grow-
ing Asian market. They expected Universal
would become a $9 billion company by
2014 with a listing on the Hong Kong
stock exchange, according to notes from
the board meeting.
Casino  gambling  revenues in
the Asia-Pacific

than tripled since 2007, according to

region have more
PricewaterhouseCoopers. The region is set
to overtake the U.S. market as largest in the
world next year when gambling revenues
reach $67 billion from $58 billion in 2012.

Universal’s first designs were based on
the Wynn casinos, featuring two wings
in reflective gold glass. Plans included
$150 million to build one of Asia’s largest
aquariums and a “Kidzania” playland, with
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Casino gambling market
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another $70 million for the “Manila Eye,”a
massive Ferris Wheel.

But Okada’s plans for a “six-star” resort
were immediately tested by a litany of prob-
lems on the ground in Manila. Engineers
discovered 10 hectares (24 acres) of its site
was reserved for road use and held by anoth-
er developer, making building impossible.

It had been overlooked in the original
purchase. “We didn't realize at the time that
we had the road problem,” a memo from
June 2009 said. “Our land was crisscrossed
by these roads like wormholes.”

Universal's Manila staff worried there
was no easy fix. After months of delays,
Universal called in Genuino to negotiate
a land swap between Universal, the local
city of Paranaque and developer Asiaworld
Properties Philippine Corporation.

“The right answer is to ask PAGCOR
Chairman (Genuino) to be our public face
in this matter,” the memo said.

Over the summer, Universal pushed for
more frequent contact with Genuino. It set

up a video conferencing facility so the two
sides could talk more regularly. Universal
also sought to make Genuino the conduit for
passing on key documents to Arroyo’s presi-
dential office, company documents show.
Around that time, Universal was also
looking to break with Philippine law firm
SyCip Salazar Hernandez and Gatmaitan,
which it felt was charging too much and
moving too slowly, according to company
memos. As it prepared to ditch SyCip,
Universal rebuilt
Soriano in what was described in an inter-

its strategy around
nal memo as a “shift to Boysie”.

In a statement, SyCip partner Imelda
Manguiat, who handled the Universal ac-
count, said all transactions the law firm
worked on were legitimate and lawful. She
declined to comment further.

Follow Reuters Special Reports
on Facebook:
facebook.com/ReutersReveals

Estimate / projection

‘09 '10 '11 12 13 '14 15

Shifting to Soriano meant reworking a
structure that allowed it to circumvent the
requirement that the landholding company
behind the casino be at least 60 percent
owned by Filipinos.

Records reviewed by Reuters show
Universal had bankrolled the original in-
vestment meant to satisfy that foreign
ownership requirement. This was done by
depositing $4.4 million in a Banco De Oro
account in 2008. That money secured a loan
to a firm called Lex Development Corp, a
shell company established by SyCip. Lex
used the money to make its investment in
the project. Universal covered interest on
the loan, records show.

'The holding was transferred in 2009 to
Platinum Gaming and Entertainment, a
Soriano-affiliated firm, records show.

OKADA IN CHARGE
Okada remained in charge of key deci-

sions involving Universal and the Manila
project, current and former employees said.
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On some mornings, employees would wait
more than an hour to speak to him. Any ex-
pense over $36,000 had to be approved by
the strategy board for the Manila project,
records show.

Sometimes Okada’s hands-on style
grated on his people. In one December
2009 meeting, Okada and Toshihiko
Nishigaki, a hotel industry veteran brought
in to oversee the Manila project, got into
a heated discussion about responsibility for
the project, according to three people in the
room. Nishigaki asked Okada to step into
the corridor and a shouting match ensued.

Within weeks, Nishigaki was gone. His
departure was the start of a transition that
put greater focus on a quicker return from
a downsized project. Plans for the Ferris
Wheel and other attractions that had
promised to turn the casino into a tourist
magnet were dropped or scaled back, peo-
ple involved said.

Nishigaki did not respond to a letter
seeking comment.

In November 2009, Okada hosted a
PAGCOR delegation, including Soriano,
in Las Vegas to watch Philippine national
hero Manny Pacquiao win a welterweight
championship fight. Universal picked up
the tab for Soriano and the PAGCOR
delegation at Wynn Las Vegas at a cost of
$14,412, records show.

Then in January 2010, Okada led a del-
egation of Universal executives from Tokyo
to the wedding of Genuino’s son, Anthony,
at the Sofitel hotel in Manila. Okada sat at
the same table as former Philippines First
Lady Imelda Marcos. Executives who ac-
companied Okada said the intent was to
show his support for Genuino and his po-
litically ambitious family.

PAGCOR filed corruption complaints
against Efraim Genuino and other former
PAGCOR officials in 2011 alleging they di-
verted funds to help favoured candidates for
public office, including Genuino’s children.

In part, Genuino is accused of diverting

rice Okada had donated to help typhoon

66

Note to Okada ahead of his meeting with former

Philippine President Gloria Arroyo

FRIEND TO FOE: Las Vegas casino magnate
Steve Wynn (L) and Japan’s Kazuo Okada were
once friends and business partners. Now they are
suing each other. REUTERS/STAFF FILES

victims in 2008 to support the candidacy
of his sons, two years later. The rice was de-
livered to potential voters in bags with pic-
tures of Anthony and Erwin, according to
the charges.

Anthony was elected mayor of the city
of Los Banos, while Erwin ran unsuccess-
tully in the May 2010 elections.

The Department of Justice recently
said it would not pursue charges against
Anthony and Erwin due to a lack of evi-
dence. Neither of the sons could be reached
for comment.

The $40 million in payments from
Universal began moving to Soriano on
January 14, 2010 with an initial instalment
of $10 million transferred to the bank ac-
count of Subic Leisure and Management,
a Soriano-controlled company registered
in the British Virgin Islands. Another $15
million was transferred to Subic Leisure on
March 3,2010, internal records show.

'Then in late April and early May 2010
Universal recycled another $10 million
payment through the same Subic Leisure
route. Records show Universal brought the
money back to its own accounts in a move
aimed at covering a loan to a company

called AZ Games International Corp that
had gone sour, according to company re-
cords and people involved in the trans-
action. AZ Games was registered in the
British Virgin Islands and operated with
little oversight as a result. It had been dis-
solved months before, records show.

The final $5 million was paid to
a Hong Kong shell company named
People’s Technology Holding Ltd, of
which Soriano was the sole shareholder.
It was paid four days after Soriano met
Okada and other Universal executives at
a Chinese restaurant in central Tokyo to
press for the transfer, people with knowl-
edge of the meeting said.

Universal has filed two lawsuits against
three former employees claiming the final
$5 million and the $10 million that came
back to Universal were not authorized. In re-
buttals to the Universal lawsuits, two former
executives — Mitsuo Hida and Takafumi
Nakano — said they had been following or-
ders in making the payments. Nakano said
he was considering becoming a whistle-
blower under Japan’s anti-bribery law.

IN COMES AQUINO
At the end of June 2010, Genuino stepped

down after a controversy erupted over his
“midnight” reappointment by Arroyo. The
election of President Benigno Aquino the
month before posed potential complica-
tions for Universal.

Okada went to Manila to meet the
new PAGCOR chief, Christino Naguiat,
in August 2010. A month later, he hosted
Naguiat at the Wynn Macau casino and
covered $50,523 of expenses during a
four-day stay. Universal does not contest
it covered hotel rooms and other costs for
government officials but maintains no laws
were broken. Naguiat has said there was
nothing inappropriate about his stay.

A memo from Okada’s August 2010
visit to Manila notes he was “trying to keep
a good relationship with and feel comfort-
able with the new government.” But it also
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2008

contained harsh words for his Manila-
based staff.

“I think you should have made a predic-
tion what would happen due to change of
government and should have made necessary
preparations,” Okada was quoted as saying.

Okada’s

around Asia hinges in part on how the

ambition to build casinos

investigation of the Manila payments is
resolved. The payments to Soriano are the
subject of a Philippine Department of
Justice investigation and two separate con-
gressional hearings in the Philippines.

The Nevada Gaming Control Board
said last month its investigation was
progressing. Possible sanctions include a

NOV. 14, 2009

Okada hosts a group of
Philippine officials in Las Vegas
at Wynn Resorts, including
Arroyo’s husband Miguel and
Rodolfo Soriano.

JULY 11, 2008

Universal spends roughly $300 million
for a 30 hectare site on Manila Bay
where it plans to build a casino resort.

NOV. 27,2009
City of Paranaque transfers the right
to develop roughly 6 hectares of land
to Universal affiliate, Eagle I, -—
removing a crucial hurdle in the casino
development plan.

————— e ——a

) Timeline of Universal’s Manila Bay project

Universal Entertainment share price

MARCH 25, 2010 ¥3000

The Philippine Economic Zone
Authority (PEZA) certified
Universal’s registration for a
special status that exempts its
casino project from corporate tax.

2009

suspension of Universal’s gaming license.

Earlier this month, Universal signed
a deal giving Philippine property firm
Robinsons Land Corp a minority stake in
its casino operating company and a majori-
ty stake in its Manila landholding company.

The Manila project - now known as
Manila Bay Resorts after initially being
dubbed “Okada Resort Manila Bay” - is
scheduled to open in 2014, four years be-
hind initial projections.

Additional reporting by Farah Master in Hong
Kong, Manuel Mogato and Rosemarie Francisco
in Manila, and Sue Zeidler in Los Angeles;
Editing by Bill Tarrant and Michael Williams
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED, a Nevada
Corporation,

- Plaintiff,
VS.

KAZUO OKADA, an individual, ARUZE
USA, INC., a Nevada corporation, and

UNIVERSAL ENTERTAINMENT CORP.,

a Japanese corporation,

Defendants.

AND ALL RELATED CLAIMS

Case No.: A-12-656710-B
Dept. No.: XI
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

(Request for Business Court Assignment
Pursuant to EDCR 1.61(a))

(Exempt from Arbitration — Declaratory
Relief Requested)
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Plaintiff Wynn Resorts, Limited (“Wynn Resorts” or “the Company”), by and through its
undersigned counsel, hereby files the above-captioned Second Amended Complaint:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an action for breach of fiduciary duty and related offenses committed against
Wynn Resorts by one of its former directors, Kazuo Okada, and his affiliates. Beginning in 2010,
Wynn Resorts began to uncover evidence that Mr. Okada, his companies, and their associates
were engaged in unethical, unlawful, and potentially criminal activities in the Philippines in
connection with the development of a casino resort in that country. The evidence raised
substantial questions as to Mr. Okada’s probity and his suitability to be associated with a
corporation in the casino gaming industry, Because of this, Mr. Okada’s business activities in the
Philippines posed an ongoing and potentially significant risk for Wynn Resorts’ existing and
potential future gaming licenses.

When confronted with the mounting evidence of his wrongdoing, however, Mr. Okada
was evasive, and tried to conceal his misconduct from Wynn Resorts and its Board — a clear
breach of Mr. Okada’s duty to make a full and fair disclosure to the Company of all facts that
materially affect its rights and interests. Mr. Okada also consistently refused to take steps to
address Wynn Resorts’ concerns, either by shutting down his Philippine project or by severing his
ties with Wynn Resorts. By engaging in the wrongful conduct alleged herein while associated
with Wynn Resorts, failing to make full and fair disclosure to the Company and his fellow
directors about the factual circumstances surrounding his business activities in the Philippines,
and refusing to act to protect the Company’s rights and interests when called upon to do so,
Mr. Okada breached his fiduciary duties to Wynn Resorts.

In view of Mr. Okada’s inaction and his and his counsel’s refusal to cooperate with the
Company’s investigations or provide any explanation for the troubling evidence that had been
presented to them by the Company and its attorneys, in the fall of 2011, the Compliance
Committee of Wynn Resorts retained former Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,
Louis J. Freeh, to conduct a comprehensive investigation of Mr. Okada’s business activitics in the

Philippines and their potential impact on Wynn Resorts’ interests. As discussed in his written
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report to the Board (attached as Exhibit 1), Mr. Freeh uncovered substantial evidence of gross
improprieties by Mr. Okada and his agents, including evidence that Mr. Okada had made a series
of payments to the Philippine gaming regulators with direct responsibility for overseeing
Mr. Okada’s development project. Based on these findings, and upon the advice of two
independent gaming experts, the Board exercised its authority under the Wynn Resorts Articles of
Incorporation to declare Mr. Okada and his affiliates unsuitable and to redeem the Wynn Resorts
stock held by a company that Mr. Okada controlled. In addition to seeking damages for
Mr. Okada’s breaches of fiduciary duty, Wynn Resorts seeks a declaration from this Court that
the Board’s actions in this regard were lawful in all respects.

PARTIES AND RELEVANT PERSONS/ENTITIES

1. Plaintiff Wynn Resorts is and was at all times relevant hereto a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada, with its principal place of busineSs
in the State of Nevada. Wynn Resorts is publicly traded on NASDAQ.

2. Wynn Resorts is a world class developer of destination resort casinos.
Wynn Resorts owns resort casinos through its wholly owned subsidiary Wynn Las Vegas, LLC

(“Wynn Las Vegas”) and through its majority owned subsidiary Wynn Macau, Limited

(“Wynn Macau”).

3. Wynn Las Vegas operates the Wynn Las Vegas and Encore resort casinos in
Las Vegas, Nevada.

4. Wynn Macau is a Cayman Islands company that is publicly traded on the

Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Wynn Macau operates the Wynn Macau and Encore at
Wynn Macau resort casinos in Macau through its wholly owned subsidiary, Wynn Resorts
(Macau), S.A., a company organized and existing under the laws of Macau Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

5. Defendant Mr. Okada is and was at all times relevant hereto a citizen of Japan and
a member of the Board of Directors of Wynn Resorts. During the relevant period, Mr. Okada
served multiple roles with Wynn Resorts and its affiliated companies. In addition to serving as a

Wynn Resorts director, until February 24, 2012, Mr. Okada was a member of the Board of
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Directors of Wynn Macau, and, until February 18, 2012, he controlled a shareholder that owned
approximately 19.66% of Wynn Resorts. Moreover, between October 2002 and November 2011,
Mr. Okada served as Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts. On February 21, 2013, Mr. Okada
resigned as a director of Wynn Resorts, one day before a scheduled special meeting of
Wynn Resorts’ stockholders that had been called to consider and vote on a proposal to remove
Mr. Okada from the Board. The special meeting was held as scheduled, and the removal proposal
was approved by 99.6% of the shares voted at the special meeting.

6. Defendant Aruze USA, Inc. (“Aruze USA”) is and was at all times relevant hereto
a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and a wholly owned
subsidiary of defendant Universal Entertainment Corporation (“Universal”). Until February 18,
2012, Aruze USA was a 19.66% sharcholder in Wynn Resorts. Mr. Okada serves as Director,
President, Secretary, and Treasurer of Aruze USA.

7. Defendant Universal (formerly Aruze Corporation) is a public corporation
organized under the laws of Japan. Universal manufactures and sells pachislot and pachinko
machines and other similar gaming equipment. Universal does business in the State of Nevada,
has been issued a manufacturer’s license by the Nevada Gaming Commission, and was deemed
suitable by the Nevada Gaming Commission as a 100% shareholder of Aruze USA. Mr. Okada
serves as Director and Chairman of the Board of Universal, and, together with his family
members, is a 67.9% shareholder of Universal.

8. In February 2012, the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors consisted of twelve
members: Chairman Stephen A. Wynn, Linda Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Dr. Ray R. Irani, former
Nevada Governor Robert J. Miller, John A. Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker,
D. Boone Wayson, Elaine P. Wynn, Allan Zeman, and Mr. Okada.

9. Wynn Resorts’ Gaming Compliance Committee (the “Compliance Committee”) is
an internal committee chaired by Governor Miller and consisting of two additional members:
Mr. Schorr (director and Chief Operating Officer of Wynn Resorts) and John Strzemp (Executive

Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of Wynn Resorts). The Compliance Committee
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is charged with assuring Wynn Resorts’ compliance with all laws and regulations, including, in
particular, applicable gaming laws, regulations, and policies.

10.  The Honorable Louis J. Freeh, Esq. is a former director of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, having led that agency with distinction from 1993 to 2001. Prior to serving as FBI
Director, Mr. Freeh was a United States District Court Judge. In February 2012, Mr, Freeh was a
partner in Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP — a law firm he founded with two other former federal
judges — which specialized in domestic and foreign corporate investigations and compliance.
Today, Mr. Freeh is a partner and the chairman of the Executive Committee of Pepper
Hamilton LLP.

JURISDICTION

11.  Defendants Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA have each individually and in
concert with one another caused the acts and events herein within the State of Nevada, and all are
subject to the jurisdiction of this Court. Venue is also proper in this Court.

12.  This matter is properly designated as a business court matter and assigned to the
Business Docket under EDCR 1.61(a), as the claims alleged herein arise from business torts.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

13. A Nevada gaming license is a privilege. Nevada law imposes comprehensive
regulatory requirements upon gaming licensees, including the requirement that persons and
entities associated with the licensee possess the necessary character, qualifications, and integrity
to be suitable to hold that privilege so as not to threaten the public interest or the integrity of the
regulation and control of gaming.

14.  Under the applicable gaming laws and regulations, Wynn Resorts has an obligation
to police itself and to take independent and proactive measures with respect to compliance issues
before it becomes necessary for gaming regulators to take action. Consistent with this regulatory
framework, Wynn Resorts has adopted a compliance program that requires the Compliance
Committee to, among other things, investigate senior officers, directors, and key employees to

protect Wynn Resorts from becoming associated from any unsuitable persons. The compliance
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program further requires Wynn Resorts to self-report to Nevada gaming regulators with respect to
any significant compliance-related issues that may arise.

15. As a director of Wynn Resorts (and formerly, through Aruze USA, one of its
largest shareholders), Mr. Okada’s conduct and reputation for probity had a direct impact on the
ability of Wynn Resorts to maintain its Nevada gaming license and to seek additional licenses in
the future. Accordingly, pursuant to Nevada law and its own compliance program, Wynn Resorts
was obliged to monitor Mr. Okada’s business activities to ensure that his association with
Wynn Resorts did not create any regulatory concern.

Okada Announces Plan to Enter Philippine Market

16. In or about 2008, Wynn Resorts learned that Mr. Okada, through one or more
companies he controlled, had publicly stated his intention to develop a casino resort in the
Philippines. Wynn Resorts was not and has never been an investor or participant in Mr. Okada’s
development project in the Philippines.

17.  For a number of reasons, it was highly uncertain whether Mr. Okada’s planned
casino resort in the Philippines would ever come to fruition. The scale of the proposed
development was larger than any comparable project in existence in the Philippines at the time,
and Mr. Okada and the companies he controlled had never developed anything on such a scale
previously. Numerous approvals and licenses from the Philippine government would also be
needed before any project could get off the ground, let alone become operational.

18. In 2008, the Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR?)
awarded four provisional gaming licenses, without public bidding, in connection with a
development project in the Manila Bay area referred to as Entertainment City. PAGCOR is a
100% government-owned and -controlled corporation that operates under the direct supervision of
the Office of the President of the Philippines and is charged with licensing and regulating casino
gaming in the Philippines. One of the provisional licenses that PAGCOR awarded went to a

newly-formed entity that is 99% owned by Aruze USA, known as Tiger Resort, Leisure and

Entertainment Inc.
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19.  Apart from obtaining a provisional license, however, between 2008 and early
2010, Mr. Okada and his companies made very little apparent progress with respect to the
proposed development in the Philippines. Indeed, on various occasions during that period,
Mr. Okada made statements to Mr. Wynn and others at Wynn Resorts expressing doubt that he
would ever actually develop a casino resort in the Philippines, stating that he had reconsidered.

20.  In this period of time, Wynn Resorts did not know what activities Mr. Okada was
engaged in to promote his Philippine project. As of early 2010, Wynn Resorts had no reason to
suspect that Mr. Okada and his associates would engage in unethical or unlawful conduct, or that
Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines would damage Wynn Resorts or pose a threat to
Wynn Resorts’ gaming licenses. Indeed, Mr. Okada had every reason to conceal his activities,
both because he could be harmed by its exposure, and because Mr. Okada made periodic attempts
in that time period to persuade Wynn Resorts and/or Mr. Wynn to have some degree of
involvement with his Philippine project.

Wynn Resorts Begins to Have Concerns

21.  Beginning in 2010, a number of events occurred to change Wynn Resorts’
perception of Mr. Okada and his Philippine project. In June 2010, as Mr. Wynn was planning to
return from a visit to Macau, Mr. Okada prevailed on Mr. Wynn to make an unscheduled st()povér
in Manila in the course of his trip back to the United States. Mr. Wynn had no interest in
involving Wynn Resorts in Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines and agreed to the visit as a
courtesy to Mr, Okada. Mr. Okada abused Mr. Wynn’s courtesy, however, and went to great
lengths to try to associate Wynn Resorts and Mr. Wynn with his Philippine project.

22. Unbeknownst to Mr. Wynn, Mr. Okada had arrangéd for a public event at his
Manila Bay development site that was to be attended by various Philippine government officials.
Mr. Okada conspicuously publicized Mr. Wynn’s attendance at the event by erecting a large sign
that read, “Welcome to the Philippines Chairman Steve Wynn,” and bore the trademarked
corporate logo of Wynn Resorts. Mr. Wynn immediately recognized that Mr. Okada had brought

him to the Philippines under misleading pretenses, and that he had orchestrated the event to send
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the false message to the Philippine government that Wynn Resorts’ good reputation and standing
in the casino resort industry backed Mr. Okada’s development project.

23.  Following Mr. Wynn’s stopover in Manila, and in light of concems that Mr. Okada
was trading on Wynn Resorts’ reputation and creating the false impression that Wynn Resorts had
a role in his Philippine project, management determined to conduct an investigation regarding the
general business environment in the Phil.ippines as part of the Company’s general compliance
program. Management produced a written report and presented it to the Board (including
Mr. Okada) in July 2010.

24.  Based on reports from sources in the U.S. government and local authorities in the
Philippines, as well as intemational organizations and media, the report concluded that corruption
posed a major problem in the Philippines and that Philippine anti-corruption efforts were
ineffective. Management’s report cited a “Global Corruption Barometer” study that listed the
Philippines in the top quintile of “Countries most affected by bribery.”

25. At this same July 2010 meeting of the Wynn Resorts Board, the other directors
asked Mr. Okada to state his intentions with respect to his casino resort development in the
Philippines. Mr. Okada was evasive, however, and failed to alleviate the Board’s concerns. By
refusing to make full disclosure to the Board about his business activities in the Philippines and
the factual circumstances surrounding those activities, Mr. Okada was able to conceal his
wrongful conduct from the Company and his fellow directors.

26.  Although Wynn Resorts did not appreciate the situation at the time — due to
Mr. Okada’s lack of candor — 2010 was a critical period for Mr. Okada’s project in the
Philippines. Effective June 30, 2010, Benigno S. Aquino III assumed office as President of the
Republic of the Philippines, succeeding Gloria M. Arroyo. Soon thereafter, President Aquino
appointed Cristino L. Naguiat, Jr. to replace Efraim C. Genuino as the Chairman of PAGCOR.

27.  In July 2010, reports surfaced in the Philippine press that at the behest of the new
President, Mr. Naguiat was investigating certain “midnight deals” that had been approved by his
predecessor. Specifically, in his final weeks as Chairman, Mr. Genuino, with the support of

then-President Arroyo, had caused PAGCOR to award several gaming licenses and related
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concessions on an abnormally expedited basis. Among the beneficiaries of these deals was
Mr. Okada, who received a special exemption allowing an Okada-controlled company to take title
to the land on which his casino resort was to be built. Without the exemption, Mr. Okada’s
company would have been subject to Philippine law prohibiting foreign investors from owning
land. A decision by Mr. Naguiat to revoke the exemption, therefore, would have significantly
impaired Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines.

28. Despite direct inquiry by Wynn Resorts management, the Company was not made
aware of these events until 2011, when it began to receive certain third-party investigative reports
discussed below. Mr. Okada still has never made a full or fair disclosure to the Company déspite
the material effects his activities in the Philippines have had on Wynn Resorts’ rights and
interests.

Wynn Resorts Receives Further Evidence of Mr. Okada’s Misconduct

29. By mid-2010, Wynn Resorts had no definitive proof of wrongdoing by Mr. Okada
or his associates. Mr. Okada’s continued evasiveness, however, coupled with substantial
concerns about widespread corruption in the Philippines, caused Wynn Resorts to determine that
further inquiry was warranted.

30.  Accordingly, in early 2011, Wynn Resorts retained a well-known investigative
organization, The Arkin Group LLC (“Arkin Group”), to further examine the risks associated
with doing business in the Philippines and to investigate Mr. Okada’s activities in that country.
Arkin Group summarized its findings in a series of written reports that were provided to
Wynn Resorts in February 2011.

31.  Based on its investigation, which included interviews of Philippine officials and
other industry and government contacts, Arkin Group concluded that official corruption in the
Philippines — particularly in the gaming industry — was “deeply ingrained” and that “official
corruption at some level accompanies most if not all major business deals and transactions in the
Philippines.” In support of these conclusions, Arkin Group cited, among other sources, the 2010
Transparency International Corruption Percentage Index, which rated the Philippines at the lower

end of the index, 134th out of 178 countries surveyed. The Arkin Group observed that this rating
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placed the Philippines “on par with Nigeria, Honduras, Azerbaijan and Bangladesh” in terms of
the pervasiveness of government corruption.

32.  As for Mr. Okada’s activities, Arkin Group found that Mr. Okada was “perceived
as touting his relationship with Wynn Resorts as a means to generate a positive reputation and
high profile” and “proving his and Aruze’s credibility.” The Arkin Group’s reports also discussed
the land title exemption that Mr. Okada had obtained in the final days of the administrations of
PAGCOR Chairman Genuino and Philippine President Arroyo, and explained that such “midnight
deals” were at that time “receiving significant media attention and scrutiny” in the Philippines.

33.  The Wynn Resorts Board discussed the results of the Arkin Group’s investigation
at a Board meeting held on February 24, 2011. Mr. Wynn advised the Board that Mr. Okada
(wh;o was present for the meeting) had arranged for him to meet with Philippine President
Aquino. Based on the information the Board had received about endemic corruption in the
Philippines, the independent directors unanimously advised Wynn Resorts management that any
involvement in the Philippines was inadvisable and strongly recommended that the meetigg with
President Aquino be cancelled. Management agreed with the Board’s recommendation.
Mr. Okada, however, was embarrassed and angry about having to cancel the arrangements he had
made with President Aquino.

34, At the same Board meeting, in the course of an update from Wynn Resorts’
general counsel on the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), Mr. Okada stated that he
personally rejected Wynn Resorts’ anti-bribery rules and regulations, as well as legal prohibitions
against making such payments to government officials. Mr. Okada also stated that paying bribes
to government officials was a common business practice in certain Asian countries, and that the
important thing was to channel such illegal payments through third parties. Given that such
conduct is prohibited by law in virtually every Asian country, as well as the United States, this

was a shocking statement for Mr. Okada to make.

35.  Mr. Okada responded to the rift he had opened with the other Board members
through such comments by counter-attacking. At a Board meeting held on April 18, 2011,

Mr. Okada was the lone director to vote against a proposed charitable gift to the University of

10
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Macau Development Foundation. At the time, Mr. Okada’s stated concemn related solely to the
length of the commitment, not its propriety. Mr. Okada has subsequently asserted, however, that
the charitable gift violated the FCPA, and he has sued Wynn Resorts in this Court seeking
documents and records related to the Board’s decision to authorize the charitable gift. These
claims are baseless, and they are designed to divert attention from Mr. Okada’s own misconduct
and breaches of fiduciary duty.

36. Mr. Okada’s business activities in the Philippines were again discussed at a
Wynn Resorts Board meeting held on July 28, 2011. At that time, Mr. Okada confirmed to the
Board that notwithstanding his fellow directors’ stated concerns, he was proceeding with his
Philippine project. Wynn Resorts’ independent directors expressed great concern regarding
probity issues attendant to Mr. Okada’s decision to do business in the Philippines and the possible
adverse effect that Mr. Okada’s involvement in the Philippines would have on Wynn Resorts.
The Board was advised that the Compliance Committee had engaged a second independent
firm — Archfield Limited (“Archfield””) — to further investigate these issues.

37.  The Compliance Committee reviewed the results of Archfield’s investigation at a
meeting held oﬁ September 27, 2011. The reports from Archfield deepened the Compliance
Committee’s concerns about Mr. Okada’s involvement in the Philippines.

38. As described therein, Archfield’s investigation identified additional anomalies and
apparent improprieties related to Mr. Okada’s business activities in the Philippines. Among other
things, Archfield reported that a gaming license had been granted to Mr. Okada’s company
notwithstanding that Mr. Okada did not appear to have a Philippine business partner, as required
by Philippine law. In addition, Archfield cited reports that former Chairman Genuino, with the
support of former President Arroyo, had paved the way for Mr. Okada to obtain title to the land
on which his casino resort was to be located in a clear reversal of Philippine policy on foreign
investment.

30, Archfield also reported that former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, the government
official who had authorized Mr. Okada’s gaming license and who had direct regulatory authority

over Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines, had been removed from office and was under
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investigation for potential misconduct. This was particularly troubling for the Compliance
Committee given the report from Archfield that former Chairman Genuino and former
President Arroyo were “strongly rumored to have profited from their relationship with Okada.”

40. A few days later, at the direction of the Compliance Committee, Wynn Resorts
management met with Mr. Okada’s attorneys, including Robert Faiss of the Lionel Sawyer firm,
to discuss Wynn Resorts’ concerns relative to Mr. Okada’s business activities in the Philippines
and the potential adverse effect of those activities on Wynn Resorts’ privileged status as a gaming
licensee. At this meeting, the Wynn Resorts representatives made clear that Mr. Okada’s alleged
activities in the Philippines posed substantial risks for Wynn Resorts and needed to be explained
post haste. Wynn Resorts’ concerns were ill-received, and the meeting was not productive.
Mr. Okada’s representatives refused to disclose the full factual circumstances surrounding his
business activities in the Philippines, much less provide an explanation for those activities that
might somehow address the Company’s concerns.

41.  Around this same time, Wynn Resorts was preparing to hold a training session for
its directors regarding the FCPA. The training session was scheduled for Oc-tober 31, 2011, the
day before a scheduled in-person Board meeting, and Mr. Okada (through his assistant) had
previously sent an RSVP indicating that he would attend. Six days before the session, however,
Mr. Okada requested that the training materials be translated into Japanese (despite his previous,
long-term practice of translating all materials on his own) and that the date of the session be
moved (despite that it had been planned around his previous confirmation). Wynn Resorts
accommodated Mr. Okada’s first request by obtaining a Japanese translation of the training
materials and arranging for professional translators to be available to assist Mr. Okada at the
session. Ultimately, however, although he was present at the Board meeting held the very next
day, Mr. Okada was the sole Board member who failed to attend the FCPA training session in
October 2011, with all other directors appearing in person or telephonically. Mr. Okada likewise
was the sole Board member to not attend a similar FCPA training session héld in 2012.
Mr. Okada’s refusal to attend these training sessions further demonstrates his disregard for his

obligations as a director of a company in a highly regulated gaming industry.
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42. At this point, even if there was insufficient evidence in hand at that time to prove
misconduct by Mr. Okada in the Philippines, it was clear that Mr. Okada had set himself on a
course against the rest of the Board and was acting without regard for the best interests of
Wynn Resorts.  Accordingly, in Octobe'r 2011, management was authorized by the Board to
request Mr. Okada’s resignation as a director. Mr. Okada refused.

43, On November 1, 2011, in light of Mr. Okada’s failure to attend mandatory FCPA
compliance training, acknowledge the Company’s internal compliance policies, or to address the
Company’s serious concerns and inquiries about potentially dangerous and illegal activities in the
Philippines, the Board (apart from Mr. Okada) voted unanimously to remove Mr. Okada from his
Vice Chairmanship and to leave the office vacant.

44,  The Board and management have reiterated their request that Mr. Okada resign his
directorship on various occasions between October 2011 and the present date. Mr. Okada has
consistently refused to do so. At a special meeting of the ijn Resorts stockholders held on
February 22, 2013, 99.6% of the shares voted at the meeting were cast in favor of a proposal to
remove Mr. Okada from the Wynn Resorts Board.

Former FBI Director Freeh Investigates

45. By late 2011, the Compliance Committec was sufficiently concerned to seek
further assistance in determining the propriety of Mr. Okada’s activities in the Philippines.
Accordingly, on October 29, 2011, the Compliance Committee determined to retain Mr. Freeh
and his colleagues at Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan LLP to conduct a rigorous investigation.

46.  Over a three-month period, Mr. Freeh and/or his colleagues made several trips to
the Philippines and Macau, reviewed thousands of pages of documents, emails, and public
records, and conducted dozens of interviews, including of every independent director on the
Wynn Resorts Board. By early 2012, Mr. Freeh and his team had uncovered detailed prima facie
evidence of serious wrongdoing by Mr. Okada and his associates.

47.  On February 15, 2012, Mr. Freeh conducted a full-day, in-person interview of

Mr. Okada in Tokyo. Mr. Okada was accompanied by counsel, the former United States Attorney

for the Central District of California. Following the interview, Mr. Freech advised Mr. Okada and
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his counsel that he would be reporting his findings to the Wynn Resorts Board on February 18,

2012, and invited Mr. Okada to present Mr. Freeh with any exculpatory evidence that might be

available.

At the Board meeting, Mr. Freeh made a detailed presentation and provided the

directors with copies of his 47-page written report, outlining the following improprieties, among

others:

Since 2008, Okada and his associates have made multiple payments to and on
behalf of the Philippines’ chief gaming regulators at PAGCOR, the government
officials who directly oversee and regulate Mr. Okada’s licensing agreement to
operate in the Philippines.

For example, records reviewed by Mr. Freeh revealed 36 separate instances, from
May 2008 to through June 2011, where Mr. Okada or his associates/affiliates made
payments exceeding $110,000 that directly benefitted senior PAGCOR officials.
This included payments to former PAGCOR Chairman Genuino, current
PAGCOR Naguiat, and their family, friends, and associates.

On one particular occasion in September 2010, Mr. Okada arranged for newly
appointed PAGCOR Chairman Naguiat, his wife, his three children, their nanny,
and other senior PAGCOR officials (one of whom also brought his family) to stay
at Wynn Macau. Mr. Okada and his associates refused to provide Wynn Macau
management with the name of Chairman Naguiat and tried to conceal his identity.
At Mr. Okada’s associates’ request and Mr. Okada’s direction, Chairman Naguiat
and his entourage were provided with the most expensive accommodation, food,
and star treatment. In addition, Mr. Okada’s associates asked that each guest be
provided a $5,000 advance, in cash, during their stay. Following the stay,
Mr. Okada’s associates requested that Wynn Macau reduce the excessive charges
because they feared an investigation and did not want Mr. Okada or his companies

to get in trouble. Wynn Macau refused.
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49.

There 1s substantial evidence that Mr. Okada, his associates, and companies may
have arranged and manipulated ownership and management of legal entities in the
Philippines under his control, in a manner that may have enabled the evasion of
Philippine constitutional and statutory requirements.

Moreover, close associates and consultants of the former PAGCOR administration
attained positions as corporate officers, directors, and/or nominal shareholders of
entities controlled by Mr. Okada and, in some cases, served as links between
Mr. Okada and the former PAGCOR Chairman.

Mr. Okada has stated his personal rejection of Wynn Resorts’ anti-bribery policies
and applicable anti-bribery laws to his fellow Wynn Resorts directors. Despite
being advised by members of the Wynn Resorts Board and the Company’s counsel
that making payments and providing gifts to foreign government officials is strictly
prohibited, Mr. Okada has expressed a willingness to engage in such conduct when
doing business in Asia.

The nature of Mr. Okada’s gaming license in the Philippines requires continued
oversight by PAGCOR officials. Mr. Okada thus has a strong and continuing
motive to maintain favorable relations with the Chairman and other senior officials
of PAGCOR.

Despite being invited to present exonerating evidence regarding these matters,

Mr. Okada provided no such evidence at his interview with Mr. Freeh in Tokyo or subsequently.

Moreover, Mr. Freeh concluded and advised the Board that Mr. Okada lacked credibility in the

statements he did make concerning his conduct.

50.

The Wynn Resorts Board Redeems Aruze USA’s Shares

The conduct detailed in Mr. Freeh’s report is conduct of a type that, when engaged

in by a person affiliated with a licensed entity, puts the entity’s existing and prospective gaming

licenses at risk. The Board was so advised by two independent experts on Nevada gaming law.
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51. Thus, following Mr. Freeh’s presentation, the Wynn Resorts Board deliberated at
length and unanimously (except for Mr. Okada) adopted resolutions finding Mr. Okada,
Universal, and Aruze USA to each be an “Unsuitable Person” under Wynn Resorts’ Second
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles of Incorporation”™ or “Articles™).

52.  An “Unsuitable Person” is defined in Article VII of the Articles as any *“Person
who . . . in the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to
jeopardize the Corporation’s or any Affiliated Company’s application for, receipt of approval for,
right to the use of, or entitlement to, any Gaming License.”

53. Having found Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA unsuitable under the
Articles, the Board had an affirmative obligation under the applicable gaming laws and
regulations to take action to protect the gaming licenses and approvals of Wynn Resorts and its
affiliates. The specific course of action that was available to the Board is set forth in Article VII
of the Articles, which provides that following a determination of unsuitability, “[t]he Securities
Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of an Unsuitable Person shall be
subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of funds legally available therefor, by action of the
board of directors, to the extent . . . deemed necessary or advisable by the board of directors. . ..”

54.  On the basis of these express provisions in the Articles, on February 18, 2012,
following Mr. Freeh’s presentation and the Board’s finding of unsuitability with respect to
Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA, the Board voted to redeem and cancel all of Aruze USA’s
shares of Wynn Resorts stock. In exchange, as expressly permitted by the Articles, the Board
unanimously (except for Mr. Okada) determined to issue to Aruze USA a promissory note with a
face value of approximately $1.936 billion and paying interest at 2% per year as provided for in
the Articles.

Further Evidence of Mr. Okada’s Wrongdoing Comes to Light Post-Redemption

55. Following the Board’s unsuitability finding and redemption of Aruze USA’s
shares, further evidence has reportedly come to light revealing the true extent of Mr. Okada’s
breach of fiduciary duty and lack of disclosure regarding his activities in the Philippines. It has

been widely reported in the press that Mr. Okada and his companies are the subject of multiple
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pending investigations relating to the development of Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines. The
FBI, the Nevada Gaming Control Board, and the Philippine Department of Justice, among many
other organizations, are reportedly gathering additional evidence that Mr. Okada’s companies
paid bribes to Philippine gaming regulators at PAGCOR and their associates to facilitate the
development of Mr. Okada’s casino resort in Manila Bay.

56. At the center of the new evidence that has reportedly come to light is Rodolfo
Soriano, a former consultant to PAGCOR and a close business associate of former PAGCOR
Chairman Genuino. Mr. Freeh’s report to the Wynn Resorts Board in February 2012 described
Mr. Soriano as a “bag man” for Mr. Genuino. Mr. Soriano is often referred to by his nickname,
“Boysie.”

57.  The evidence reportedly uncovered in the ongoing investigations shows that, in or
about 2009, Mr. Okada and his companies made a strategic “shift to Boysie” to jumpstart the
lagging progress at their Philippine development site. This shift in strategy, it has been reported,
involved Okada-controlled companies paying up to $40 million in bribes to companies controlled
by Mr. Soriano in order to secure benefits from PAGCOR and the Arroyo administration that
were essential to the viability and profitability of Mr. Okada’s project in the Philippines. Of
course, the factual circumstances of these transactions were never disclosed to the Wynn Resorts
Board despite their unquestionable material effect on the Company’s righté and interests.

58.  News reports indicate that on January 14, 2010, Mr. Okada’s company transferred
$10 million to Subic Leisure and Management (“Subic Leisure”), a Soriano-controlled company
registered in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Okada’s company transferred an additional
$15 million to Subic Leisure on March 3, 2010, and a further $10 million to Subic Leisure in or
about early May 2010. And, it has been reported that Mr. Okada’s company transferred
$5 million to a Hong Kong shell company named People’s Technology Holding Ltd., of which
Mr. Soriano was the sole shareholder.

59. The Asahi Shimbun, one of the largest national newspapers in Japan, has reported
that these money transfers were reported to senior management at Universal and were approved

by its board of directors. According to these Asahi Shimbun reports, the money transfers were
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discussed at a Universal board meeting and expressly approved in a board resolution that
Mr, Okada himself signed as the Chairman of Universal. Again, the factual circumstances of
these transactions were never disclosed to the Wynn Resorts Board despite their unquestionable
material effect on the Company’s rights and interests.

60.  Other news reports indicate that in exchange for these illicit payments, between
late 2009 and early 2010, Mr. Okada’s companies won concessions on three critical issues related
to the Philippine project. In No.vember 2009, PAGCOR, through its then-Chairman Genuino,
brokered a land swap that Mr. Okada’s company needed to move ahead with construction of its
casino resort. Then, in or about February 2010, then-Philippine President Arroyo signed a
presidential order that permitted foreign investors such as Mr, Okada to have 100-percent
ownership of casinos. Finally, around the same time, the Philippine government approved an
application for corporate tax relief by Mr. Okada’s company.

61. This additional evidence that has reportedly come to light in the ongoing
government investigations is entirely consistent with and supplements the findings contained in
Mr. Freeh’s report to the Wynn Resorts Board, as detailed above. This additional evidence is
consistent with Mr. Okada’s statements to the Wynn Resorts Board in February 2011, discussed
above, regarding Mr. Okada’s perspective on anti-corruption laws and regulations and his
willingness to pay bribes through intermediaries while doipg businesé in certain Asian countries.
Because Mr. Okada engaged in this reported misconduct while he was associated with
Wynn Resorts, this additional information further demonstrates Mr. Okada’s failure to provide
full and fair disclosure to the Board of the factual circumstances surrounding his and his affiliates’
business dealings in the Philippines, and further supports Wynn Resorts’ claim for breach of

fiduciary duty.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Breach of Fiduciary Duty)
(Wynn Resorts against Mr. Okada)

62. Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1

through 61 above as though fully set forth herein.
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63.  As a director of Wynn Resorts, at all relevant times Mr. Okada owed fiduciary
duties to Wynn Resorts under NRS 78.138 and the common law. Those duties included, without
limitation: (a) the duty nbt to engage in conduct that was likely to damage the corporate interests
of Wynn Resorts; (b) the duty to act in the best interests of Wynn Resorts, as opposed to
advancing his own personal interests; and (c) the duty to make full disclosure to Wynn Resorts
and his fellow directors about his business activities in the Philippines and to avoid concealment
of his wrongful conduct where the interests of Wynn Resorts were concerned.

64. As set forth herein, Mr. Okada violated his fiduciary duties in several material
ways during the period of 2008 to the date hereof. These violations of Mr. Okada’s duties were
intentionally concealed by him, however, and were not discovered by Wynn Resorts unﬁl various
times after 2010, as set forth in more detail herein. Indeed, the details of Mr. Okada’s wrongful
conduct are still coming to light today through the ongoing investigative efforts of government
and regulatory authorities worldwide.

65. Mr. Okada’s breaches of fiduciary duty arise from his plan to have entities he
personally controls develop .and operate a resort casino in the Philippines. Specifically, the
breaches occurred when, in furtherance of these plans, Mr. Okada engaged in conduct that was
unethical, unlawful, and apparently criminal,

66. By engaging in such conduct while he was a director of Wynn Resorts, and indeed
while he held the title of Vice Chairman of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Okada directly, knowingly, and
intentionally damaged the interests of Wynn Resorts. This is because Wynn Resorts must be
licensed as an entity in order to operate in the casino industry in Nevada, Macau, and in other
jurisdictions in which Wynn Resorts may seek to operate casino resorts in the future. Such
licensure, both existing and prospective, is put at grave risk by unethical, unlawful, and/or
criminal conduct by any persons who serve as directors of the regulated entity. By engaging in
conduct that could have resulted in risk to Wynn Resorts’ existing and prospective licenses,
Mr. Okada struck at the heart of Wynn Resorts’ corporate interests in clear violation of his duty to

protect and advance the interests of Wynn Resorts.
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67. Mr. Okada further demonstrated his willingness to damage Wynn Resorts, and his
contempt for his fiduciary duties, by concealing his wrongful conduct from Wynn Resorts and by
refusing voluntarily to resign and sever h.is links with Wynn Resorts when requested to do so.
This conduct compounded Mr. Okada’s other breaches of duty. In particular, despite requests to
do so at Board meetings and in conversations with senior executives of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Okada
refused to supply information about his activities in the Philippines and indeed refused to confirm
even that he had determined to proceed with his Philippine project. In addition, through his
counsel, Mr. Okada refused to cooperate with the Company’s investigations regarding his
activities in the Philippines or to provide any explanation for the troubling evidence that was
brought to Mr. Okada and his counsel’s attention by Wynn Resorts and its attorneys.

68.  Rather than providing full and fair disclosure, Mr. Okada purposefully covered his
tracks to prevent Wynn Resorts from discovering the extent of his questionable conduct.
Mr. Okada knew that if he was forthcoming with the Company and his fellow directors, and did
not evade their questions about his business activities in the Philippines, Wynn Resorts would
undoubtedly take action to protect itself. Specifically, Mr. Okada did not wish for the
Wynn Resorts Board to use its power under Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation to redeem
the shares he owned through Aruze USA, nor did Mr. QOkada wish for Wynn Resorts to
commence the process of removing him as a director by a two-thirds shareholder vote (the only
way in which Mr. Okada could be removed against his will under Nevada law). Mr. Okada’s lack
of candor — when he owed the Company a duty of full and fair disclosure of the factual
circumstances surrounding his business dealings in the Philippines — amounted to an
independent breach of Mr. Okada’s fiduciary duties.

69. In addition, Mr. Okada breached his fiduciary duties by refusing, in 2011 and
2012, to attend the training sessions that Wynn Resorts arranged for its directors to ensure that
they are familiar with Wynn Resorts’ duties to be compliant with all applicable laws and
regulations, and to avoid corrupt conduct. By repeatedly evading such compliance education

without valid excuse, Mr. Okada not only made it more difficult for Wynn Resorts to demonstrate
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the commitment of its Board to compliance, but he also further manifested his position that
anti-corruption laws are irrelevant and of no importance to Mr. Okada.

70. Mr. Okada’s breaches of duty involved intentional misconduct and knowing
violations of law.

71.  As a result of Mr. Okada’s violations of his fiduciary duties, Wynn Resorts has
suffered harm. In particular, Mr. Okada’s violations of duty, once suspected and/or discovered,
required Wynn Resorts: (a) to investigate his conduct, including to retain the services of three
investigative firms; and (b) to take action pursuant to Nevadé law and to Wynn Resorts’ Articles
to protect the corporation from Mr. Okada’s breaches of duty. Wynn Resorts has been damaged
by having to incur and pay the costs associated with these efforts to limit and repair the threatened
damage to Wynn Resorts caused by Mr. Okada’s course of conduct.

72.  As direct and proximate result of Mr. Okada’s acts and omissions, Wynn Resorts
has suffered and will continue to suffer direct, incidental, and consequential damages, in an
amount to be proven at trial, but in any event, in excess of $10,000, plus prejudgment interest.

73.  In committing the acts herein above alleged, Mr. Okada is guilty of oppression,
fraud, and malice toward Wynn Resorts. As such, Wynn Resorts is entitled to recover punitive
damages from Mr. Okada for, inter alia, the purpose of deterring him and others similarly situated
from engaging in like conduct.

74. As a result of the acts and omissions of Mr. Okada, Wynn Resorts has been
compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty)
(Wynn Resorts against Universal and Aruze USA)
75.  Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraph 1
through 74 above as though fully set forth herein.
76.  As a director, Mr. Okada owed Wynn Resorts a fiduciary duty of loyalty which, as

alleged herein, he breached.
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77.  Universal and Aruze USA knowingly participated in Mr. Okada’s breaches of
fiduciary duty by facilitating and/or actively participating in the unethical, unlawful, and/or
criminal conduct described herein, which conduct has threatened to undermine Wynn Resorts’
reputation as well as its existing and prospective gaming licenses.

78.  As a direct and proximate result of Universal’s and Aruze USA’s acts and
omissions in aiding and abetting Mr. Okada’s breaches of duty, Wynn Resorts has suffered and
will continue to suffer direct, incidental, and consequential damages in an amount to be proven at
trial, but in any event, in excess of $10,000, plﬁs prejudgment interest.

79.  In committing the acts herein above alleged, Universal and Aruze USA are guilty
of oppression, fraud, and malice toward Wynn Resorts. As such, Wynn Resorts is entitled to
recover punitive damages from Universal and Aruze USA for, inter alia, the purpose of deterring
them and others similarly situated from engaging in like conduct.

80. As a result of the acts and omissions of Universal and Aruze USA, Wynn Resorts
has been compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Declaratory Relief — NRS Chapter 30)
(Wynn Resorts against Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA)

8§1. Wynn Resorts repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1
through 80 above as though fully set forth herein.

82.  To be deemed “suitable” under Nevada gaming law, the applicant must be: (a) a
person of good character, honesty and integrity; (b) a person whose prior activities, criminal
record, if any, reputation, habits and associations do not pose a threat to the public interest of the
State of Nevada or to the effective regulation and control of gaming; and (c) must have adequate
business probity, competence, and experience, in gaming or generally.

83.  Section 3.090 of the Nevada Gaming Regulations provides that a license,
registration, and suitability finding requires, among other things, a person of “good character,
honesty, and integrity” and one “whose background, reputation and associations will not result in

adverse publicity for the State of Nevada and its gaming industry . ...”
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84.  Even after a suitability finding, Regulation 3.080 provides that “[t]he commission
may deny, revoke, suspend, limit condition or restrict any registration or finding of suitability or
application therefor upon the same grounds as it may take such action with respect to licenses,
licensees and licensing; without exclusion of any other grounds.”

85.  In recognition of the central importance of its gaming license to the affairs of the
corporation, the Articles of Incorporation affofd the Wynn Resorts Board the “sole discretion” to
take certain action to protect the gaming licenses and approvals of Wynn Resorts and its affiliates.
Under the Articles, an “‘Unsuitable Person’ shall mean a Person who . . . in the sole discretion of
the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to jeopardize the Corporation’s or any
Affiliated Company’s application for, receipt of approval for, right to the use of, or entitlement to,
any Gaming License.”

86. Following a determination of unsuitability, the Articles of Incorporation provide
that “[t]he Securities Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of an
Unsuitable Person shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of funds legally
available therefor, by action of the board of directors, to the extent . . . deemed necessary or
advisable by the board of directors. If . .. the board of directors deems it necessary or advisable,
to redeem any such Securities, the Corporation shall give a redemption Notice to the Unsuitable
Person or its Affiliate and shall purchase on the Redemption Date the number of shares of the
Securities specified in the Redemption Notice for the price set forth in the Redemption
Notice ....” |

87. On February 18, 2012, after receiving Mr. Freeh’s written report and considering
his presentation and the advice of expert gaming counsel, the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors
deliberated at length and thereafter adopted resolutions that: (a) determined that Mr. Okada,
Universal, and Aruze USA were likely to jeopardize Wynn Resorts’ and its affiliated companies’
existing and prospective gaming licenses; (b) deemed Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA to

be “Unsuitable Persons” under the Articles of Incorporation; and (c) redeemed Aruze USA’s
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shares of Wynn Resorts common stock in exchange for an approximately $1.936 billion
promissory note, in accordance with Article VII of the Articles of Incorporation. |

88.  Aware of the magnitude of his improprieties and what the likely response of any
reasonable board of directors of a Nevada gaming company, Mr. Okada attempted, in advance of
the February 18, 2012 meeting of the Wynn Resorts Board, to set up a defense by disputing the
Board’s authority to act upon Mr. Freeh’s report.

89. In light of the foregoing, Wynn Resorts seeks a judicial declaration that it acted
lawfully and in compliance with its Articles, Bylaws, and other governing documents when it
made the determination set forth herein.

90. NRS 30.130 states that “all persons shall be made parties who have . . . any interest
which would be affected by the declaration.” Each of Mr. Okada, Universal, and Aruze USA has
interests that will be affected by the declaration that Wynn Resorts seeks. Among other
examples, given the determination by the Wynn Resorts Board that Mr. Okada, Universal, and
Aruze USA are unsuitable persons; none may be shareholders in Wynn Resorts.

91.  Accordingly, a justiciable controversy has arisen between the parties whose
interests are adverse, and the dispute is ripe for adjudication.

92.  As a result of the acts and omissions of Defendants, Wynn Resorts has been
compelled to hire the services of an attorney for the protection of its interests.

WHEREFORE, Wynn Resorts prays for judgment as follows:

1. For compensatory and special damages, in excess of $10,000, in an amount to be
determined at trial;

2. For a declaration that Wynn Resorts acted lawfully and in full compliance with its
Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and other governing documents as st forth herein;

3. For punitive damages;

4. For an award of reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees;
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11 5. For prejudgment and post-judgment interest on the foregoing sums at the highest
| rate permitted by law; and
6. For ang;_;;dégﬁauai;r&l-iﬁfs this Court deems just and proper.
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| WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED'S